RECEIVED

11-29-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2016AP260 (Milwaukee County Case No. 2004CF609)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY L. WILBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From The Final Orders Entered In The Circuit Court For Milwaukee County, The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner and Honorable Mary Kuhnmuench Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803

HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 North Milwaukee Street, Suite 535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 283-9300

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. No one at trial testified that they saw Wilber shoot the victim – David Diaz – and the physical evidence showed that Diaz was shot in the back of the head and fell face-first into the kitchen toward where Wilber was standing. Wilber's Wis. Stat. §974.06 motion presented newly discovered evidence that Roberto Gonzalez saw Vidal "Ricky" Muniz (not Wilber) shoot Diaz from behind from the living room and newly discovered evidence from Jonathan Martin that Muniz asked him to get rid of the gun later that night and confessed that he had shot Diaz.¹

Under these circumstances, did the circuit court err by denying Wilber's newly discovered evidence claim without a hearing?

The circuit court denied the claim without a hearing, finding that Martin's allegations were inadmissible hearsay and that Gonzalez's were less credible than what the court viewed as contrary evidence at trial. In the court's view, there thus was no reasonable probability of a different result.

2. Whether the evidence at trial was sufficient for

¹ Ricky's last name is spelled variously as Munoz or Muniz in the record. Ricky apparently spelled it as Muniz (R98:Attach.284) and that spelling is used in this brief.

conviction given that no one claimed to have seen Wilber shoot Diaz and the state's theory conflicts with the physical evidence and the laws of nature.

The circuit court summarily denied Wilber's claim that the evidence was insufficient.

3. Whether trial counsel denied Wilber the effective assistance of counsel by:

a. Failing to investigate Roberto Gonzalez and the information he had to provide;

b. Failing to hire an expert to analyze the physical evidence and rebut the state's theory of the offense.

The circuit court denied Wilber's §974.06 motion raising these claims, concluding that there was no reasonable probability of a different result but for counsel's alleged errors.

4. Whether Wilber's post-conviction counsel denied him the effective assistance of counsel by failing to investigate experts to address the impact of the physical evidence and trial counsel's failure to retain such experts.

The circuit court denied Wilber's §974.06 motion raising this claim, concluding that there was no reasonable probability of a different result but for counsel's alleged errors.

5. Whether reversal is appropriate in the interests of justice under Wis. Stat. §752.35 because, given both the evidence at the original trial and that discovered since then, the real controversy was not fully tried and justice has miscarried.

The circuit court did not address whether this Court

should exercise its discretion to reverse in the interests of justice.

6. The state provided Wilber's trial counsel with access to some 141 photographs through pretrial discovery. However, trial counsel either did not obtain copies of those photographs or did not provide them to Wilber once the case was finished. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion by denying Wilber and his new experts copies of those photographs for purposes of assessing the effectiveness of trial counsel and potential newly discovered evidence?

Following briefing, the circuit court declined to order the state to provide copies of the previously disclosed photographs to Wilber, finding that the photographs would not create a reasonable probability of a different result.

7. Prior to filing his opening brief in this Court, Wilber retained new appellate counsel. Wilber then moved this Court to remand the case to the circuit court pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§808.075(5) & (6) and *State v. Sutton*, 2012 WI 23, 339 Wis.2d 27, 810 N.W.2d 210 (2012) (remand encouraged to correct perceived pleading defects) so he could correct the supposed defects in his Wis. Stat. §974.06 motion perceived by the circuit court and so he could provide additional factual allegations to correct the mistaken factual assumptions relied upon by the circuit court to deny his motion without a hearing.

Did this Court erroneously exercise its discretion in denying Wilber the opportunity to correct the perceived defects in his §974.06 motion relied upon by the circuit court?

This Court denied Wilber's remand request, erroneously believing that the circuit court's errors could all be addressed on appeal without the need for remand.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a). Argument also should prove helpful to the Court given the confusion regarding controlling law demonstrated by the state's argument below and the circuit court's decision.

Publication likely is unnecessary under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23. Wilber's entitlement to relief is clear under well-established and controlling legal authority.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2016AP260 (Milwaukee County Case No. 2004CF609)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY L. WILBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a dual tragedy: the death of one innocent man and the conviction of another.

During an early morning after-hours party at his home, someone shot David Diaz in the back of the head as he was standing in the doorway between his living room and kitchen. He died immediately and collapsed face-first to the north into the kitchen, his arms under him (R47:49-50; R49:40, 66; R50:44-50; R51:279-80; R108:Exhs 14, 25). Bullet fragments were found under the stove, a few feet directly north and in front of where Diaz's body fell (R47:24-26, 59-60). All witnesses agreed that Wilber was in the kitchen north and in front of where Diaz fell when he was shot (R49:26; R50:102, 106-07, 116; R51:176).

A number of people were in the kitchen at the time. They

agreed that Wilber was drunk, obnoxious, and starting fist-fights (*e.g.*, R47:90-91; R50:122-23), but no eyewitness claimed to have seen Wilber shoot Diaz. Most testified that Wilber was actively involved in a "tussl[e]" with Ricky Torrez ("Vato") and Jeranek Diaz ("Rock") (no relation to David Diaz) at the time David Diaz was shot (R48:47, 134-36; R49:26, 31-33; R50:44-50, 57; R51:144-45)

Wilber nonetheless stands convicted of one count of first degree intentional homicide by use of a dangerous weapon for Diaz's death (R23; R28).² The state's theory was that, even though Wilber was in front of Diaz in the kitchen just prior to Diaz's death, a retired detective claimed that a single witness had suggested that Diaz might have been turning to leave the kitchen when he was shot (R55:137-38, 153-54; see R51:286, 303, 305-08). To explain the position of Diaz's body facing into the kitchen when he supposedly was shot exiting the kitchen, the state hypothesized that, although no one saw it happen and it presented no expert testifying that it was even possible, the shot somehow spun Diaz around so he fell face-first into the kitchen toward Wilber (R55:183). The state did not explain either the bullet fragments found even further into the kitchen under the stove or the absence of blood and other evidence one would expect to the south of Diaz's body if the state's theory were accurate. For instance, there was no evidence that the bullet ricocheted off of anything in the kitchen as would be necessary for a southbound bullet to end up north of the alleged shooter (R47:30-31; see R55:138-39).

The circuit court, Honorable Mary Kuhnmuench presiding, sentenced Wilber to life with eligibility for extended supervision after 40 years. (R28; R58:12-28).

² Wilber rejected an offer of second degree reckless homicide without the weapons enhancer (R41:3-4).

Wilber filed post-conviction motions and a direct appeal, claiming that the circuit court erred by (1) admitting evidence that someone (the state admitted it could not prove who or why (R43:18-19; R55:146)) had burned shoes in a grill at Wilber's sister's home the night Diaz was shot and (2) shackling him during closing arguments (R63; *see* R69). The circuit court denied the motion, concluding that the shoe evidence could have no impact on the verdict and that Wilber's conduct justified the restraints (R65; App. 51-53). This Court affirmed, holding that the trial court had not erroneously exercised its discretion (R69; App. 34-50), and the Supreme Court denied review (R70).

Wilber's subsequent *pro se* Wis. Stat. §974.06 motion sought copies of the photographs from the original discovery (although trial counsel reviewed the photographs before trial (R42:3-4; R78:6), he apparently did not obtain copies and did not provide them to Wilber (*e.g.*, R83:8)), argued *inter alia* that review of the photographs by forensic experts would support Wilber's claim of innocence, and asked that decision on various substantive claims be stayed pending provision of the photographs (R92).

The circuit court, Honorable Jeffrey Wagner presiding, ordered a response limited to the "discovery" issue and stayed the remainder of Wilber's motion (R77).

Although the state had granted Wilber's trial counsel, Michael Chernin, access to the photographs prior to trial (*see* R78:6), it vehemently objected to providing copies of those same photos to forensic experts who might question the trial outcome (R78). While Wilber noted the standard for post-conviction "discovery" under *State v. O'Brien*, 223 Wis. 2d 303, 588 N.W.2d 8 (1999), did not really fit this situation (R83:8-9), the circuit court nonetheless applied that analysis, concluding that, regardless of what the photographs may have shown, there was no reasonable probability that the jury would have acquitted Wilber given the testimony of the witnesses (R86:4-12; App. 23-31). For the same reasons, the court denied Wilber's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not retaining experts to address the physical evidence (R86:12 n.5; App. 31).

With the circuit court's permission (R86:12-13; App. 31-32), Wilber withdrew his remaining substantive claims contingent upon his attorney filing a new §974.06 motion raising, *inter alia*, the substantive claims raised here (R87). Prior counsel subsequently filed that motion (R98). The circuit court, Honorable Mary M. Kuhnmuench presiding, denied that motion without a hearing on November 25, 2015 (R99; App. 1-19).

Wilber timely filed his notice of appeal (R100). Following a string of extension requests, Wilber retained new counsel who sought remand to correct perceived technical defects in Wilber's §974.06 motion. The Court denied that motion on October 3, 2017 (App. 54-55). The Court subsequently ordered correction of the appeal record, with Wilber's opening brief due 14 days thereafter, or by November 28, 2017.

TRIAL EVIDENCE

No one disputes that, on the night of January 31 to February 1, 2004, a large group of people went to the home of David Diaz ("Diaz") for an after hours party (*e.g.*, R47:77-78, 86; R48:94-96, 107; R51:229-30). Danny Wilber ("Slim") was among the guests (*e.g.*, R48:15; R51:230).

Diaz's home had a small kitchen. A doorway on the east end of the south wall led immediately into a short hallway/landing for the stairs up to the second floor and then the living room to the south. (*E.g.*, R47:23-24). Although there were several other guests in the living room, including Vidal "Ricky" Muniz (R51:137, 232-33, 277; R52:30-31; R108:Exh.51), the state's case and the trial focused on the guests and actions in the kitchen.

Unfortunately, Wilber had too much to drink that night and became obnoxious and combative (*E.g.*, R47:90-91; R50:122-23; 135; R51:230). After getting into an argument with Oscar Niles ("Jay"), and grabbing Niles' neck chain (R47:94-96; R48:128-29; R50:32-36; R51:235), Wilber got into a "tussle" with Diaz's friends, Ricky Torres ("Vato") and Jeranek Diaz ("Rock;" no relation to David Diaz). (*E.g.*, R47:97-100; R48:134-36; R49:26; R50:44-46, 56; R51:132-33, 137-38, 238-40, 245-46).

Also in the crowded kitchen were Antonia West (Wilber's sister) and Donald Jennings (their cousin) (R47:66-67, 91-92; R48:88). Diaz was near the doorway into the living room watching the "tussle" in the kitchen but not involved in it (R50:47-50, 54-55; R51:151, 172).

At some point, either during the "tussle" (R48:47, 134-36; R50:57; R51:144-45) or immediately afterwards, Diaz was shot in the back of the head (R47:105-06; R51:138-39). The Medical Examiner testified that Diaz would have died immediately, with the shot severing his spinal chord (R49:66), and that the shot was fired from 2-3 inches away (*id*.:57).

The bullet passed in a straight line through Diaz's head, entering the back left, 1.5 inches below the top of the head and exiting four inches lower through his right cheek (R49:54, 57-61). The bullet fragments would have exited in a straight line, along with "biological spray," although the bullets could ricochet later (*id*.:70-72).

Diaz fell face-first to the north into the kitchen (e.g.,

R47:49-50), i.e., toward Wilber. Police found the fragments of the fatal bullet under the stove directly north of the top of his head (*id*.:25, 29-30, 52, 59).³ That bullet was shot from a a Ruger, Taurus, or Smith and Wesson .38 or .357 caliber revolver (*id*.:56; R49:84-88, 98).

The police found no bullet strikes (i.e., ricochet marks) on the kitchen walls or elsewhere (R47:30-31).

All of the eye-witnesses testifying at trial swore either that Wilber did not shoot Diaz (R48:35; R49:8, 11-12, 46) or that they did not see who shot Diaz (R49:31, 41; R50:53, 60; R51:115-16, 175-76; R51:249, 255-56; R52:28-29). None claimed to have seen Wilber behind Diaz (R48:44, 57; R51:176; 253).

West and Jennings thought that the shooter was in the hallway toward the living room (R48:63; 75, 141).

Niles, Jennings, and Jeranek specifically testified that they did not see Wilber draw a gun or point one at Diaz (R49:41, 48; R50:60; R51:114, 116, 141-45, 153-56, 167, 175-76; *see* R53:28, 32-34; 51-55).

Torres testified that Wilber struck him and he blacked out just before the gunshot and did not see who shot Diaz (R51:249, 254; R52:28-29). When he came to, Wilber was crouched down, looking around confused (R51:256-59, 270).

Although Torres did not see the shot fired, he assumed that Wilber had shot Diaz because he saw Wilber with what he believed was a 9mm or 380 semiautomatic handgun afterwards (R51:256-58, 281-82). He admitted he could not be sure (R52:32), and that Wilber was never directly behind Diaz (*id*.:40).

³ The bullet jacket was found at some point sitting on the kitchen table. No one knew how it could have gotten there or whether someone picked it up and put it there. (R47:25, 57).

Torres claimed that Jeranek told him that he also saw Wilber with a gun after Diaz was shot, although Jeranek did not claim to have seen Wilber point a gun at Diaz (R51:262-63).

At trial, Jeranek swore that he neither saw Wilber with a gun nor told anyone that he had (R51:114, 116). A retired detective nonetheless claimed Jeranek told him that, before he heard a shot, Jeranek saw Wilber bend and point a semiautomatic handgun at Diaz as Diaz had turned around to leave the kitchen heading south (R51:286, 294-95, 303, 305-08).

Although she denied it at trial (R47:83; R48:22), some witnesses claimed that, after Diaz was shot, West screamed something to the effect of "You shot him. Get out of here." (R51:84, 266, 283, 295, 312).

Everyone in the kitchen responded to the shot like they had been shot at (R49:46; R51:156). Everyone tried to leave at once (*e.g.*, R51:260).

West, Jennings, Niles, and Jeranek testified that, after hearing the shot, they saw some version of Wilber reacting by flinching back scared, putting his hands up, "duck[ing] and cover[ing]," or patting himself down to check if he had been shot (R47:106; R48:18, 20, 22, 36, 38, 141; R49:42, 44-45; R50:58; R51:117, 144, 171).

The state also presented evidence that some unknown person had burned clothing and shoes in a grill at Wilber's sister's home the night Diaz was shot (R51:56-73), but admitted that it could not prove they were Wilber's (R43:18-19; R55:146),

Torres testified that there was tension in the house a week before between Diaz and a group that included Ricky Muniz, although Torres attempted to minimize it (R51:232; R52:48-50). He saw Muniz in the living room shortly before the tussle and when Diaz was shot. Muniz had a handgun, although Torres claimed that it was a semiautomatic. (R51:263-64, R52:33-41; R108:Exh.51).⁴

ARGUMENT

I.

BECAUSE HIS FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS, IF TRUE, MANDATE A NEW TRIAL, WILBER IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE MOTION⁵

After Wilber's trial and direct appeal, he learned that Roberto Gonzalez actually witnessed Ricky Muniz shoot David Diaz and that Muniz had both asked Jonathan Martin to get rid of the revolver later that night and confessed to him that he had shot and killed Diaz. (R98:18-20, Attachs.314-23, 345-47).

Wilber's motion satisfied the requirements for a hearing on his newly-discovered evidence claim, having presented newly discovered evidence that he was both unfairly convicted and factually innocent of the charge. The circuit court nonetheless denied him that hearing based on a variety of findings that reflect much confusion regarding the applicable legal standards.

A. The Applicable Legal Standards

1. Newly discovered evidence

The general standards for a newly discovered evidence

⁴ Lea Franceschetti left the party before the tussle or shooting. Contrary to Torres' testimony, she claimed that Muniz had left even earlier. (R53:3-12).

⁵ Because Wilber and his attorneys were unaware of the newly discovered evidence at the time of trial and his direct appeal, his motion satisfies the "sufficient reason" requirement of Wis. Stat. §974.06(4). *See State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis.2d 168, 182 n.11, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994); *State v. Edmunds*, 2008 WI App 33, ¶11, 308 Wis.2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590.

claim are well-settled if not always well-understood:

To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a defendant must establish by clear and convincing evidence that "(1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." [State v. Armstrong, 2005 WI 119, ¶161, 283 Wis.2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98] (citation omitted). Once those four criteria have been established, the court looks to "whether a reasonable probability exists that a different result would be reached in a trial." Id. (citation omitted). The reasonable probability factor need not be established by clear and convincing evidence, as it contains its own burden of proof. Id., ¶¶160-62 (abrogating State v. Avery, 213 Wis.2d 228, 234-37, 570 N.W.2d 573 (Ct. App. 1997)).

State v. Edmunds, 2008 WI App 33, ¶13, 308 Wis.2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590.

"A reasonable probability of a different result exists if 'there is a reasonable probability that a jury, looking at both the [old evidence] and the [new evidence], would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶44, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62 (citation omitted). The defendant need not prove that acquittal is more likely than not or that the evidence is legally insufficient but for the identified errors. *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 434-35 (1995). Rather, he need only show a reasonable probability of a different result. *Love, supra*.

Newly discovered evidence is a matter of due process. *E.g.*, *Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶43, n.18.

2. Adequacy of a motion to require a hearing

"If the motion raises sufficient facts that, if true, show that the defendant is entitled to relief, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing" unless "the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶18, 336 Wis.2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 (citation and internal quotation omitted). Also, while Wilber submitted his new evidence in the form of sworn affidavits, he was not required to do so; making the allegations in the motion itself would have been sufficient. *E.g., State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶62, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. In assessing the sufficiency of a motion, its factual allegations must be accepted as true. *Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶12.

3. Standards of review

Sufficiency of a motion to require a hearing is a question of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. *Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶18. The allegations of Wilber's motion must be accepted as true absent an evidentiary hearing, *id.*, ¶12, even though, in other circumstances, the circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, *State v. Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶45, 369 Wis.2d 673, 882 N.W.2d 422.

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