RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-15-2018

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP260

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY L. WILBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER AND THE HONORABLE MARY KUHNMUENCH, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

[t]he testimony of eyewitness Richard Torres was very strong, and the impeachment of other testimony from witnesses hostile to the State persuades the court that there is not a reasonable probability that the jury would have embraced the defendant's physical evidence theory and acquitted him, no matter how accurate the drawing was. The jury clearly rejected the physical evidence that existed based on the testimony of the witnesses who were present at the scene of the homicide. The court concludes that a completely accurate depiction of the trial in that a reading of the trial testimony demonstrates that no other outcome would have been reasonably probable to occur.

(86:5.) The circuit court applied the correct law to the facts and found that there was not a reasonable probability that a to-scale diagram and expert testimony would have changed the outcome of the trial. It did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied Wilber's motion.

Wilber does not discuss the circuit court's rationale for denying his motion. (Wilber's Br. 38-40.) Instead, Wilber attempts to evade the high threshold for obtaining postconviction discovery by claiming that what he seeks is not *truly* postconviction discovery. (Wilber's Br. 38-39.) This is so, he says, because Chernin had a copy of the photographs at one time, therefore Wilber was not actually attempting to *discover* them. (Wilber's Br. 39.) He then claims, with no evidentiary or legal support, by refusing to make copies the State is "concealing" the photos and violating the prosecutor's obligation to seek justice. (Wilber's Br. 39.) Finally, he makes the irrelevant observation that Wis. Stat. § 906.11 allows the circuit court to exercise control over the presentation of evidence at trial, and claims that the circuit court therefore erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied his motion. (Wilber's Br. 39.)

All parts of Wilber's argument are misplaced.

First, as Wilber admits, he has raised this argument for the first time on appeal. (*See* Wilber's Br. 38.) It is therefore forfeited. *See State v. Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d 817, 927, 539 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995) ("We will not . . . blindside trial courts with reversals based on theories which did not originate in their forum.").

Second, his claim is indeed seeking postconviction discovery. Wilber is asking to remove evidence from the State's file, and he is doing so postconviction. That is postconviction discovery.⁹ See O'Brien, 223 Wis. 2d at 313, 319

⁹ Under Wilber's theory of "concealment," the State is required to reproduce all of the trial evidence on the demand of a defendant simply because it previously disclosed it and it is not privileged. (Wilber's Br. 38-39.) Wilber cites no law for this proposition, and the State is unable to find any case that supports it. He also fails to explain how the State can conceal something that it disclosed, and fails to explain why he did not seek the photographs from trial or postconviction counsel.

("The second issue that we consider is whether the defendant was entitled to . . . the opportunity to remove exhibits, post conviction, for scientific testing. Our focus here is on the defendant's right to post-conviction discovery."). Wilber focuses on the fact that the photographs are not "previously undisclosed." (Wilber's Br. 38.) But the photos do not have to be previously undisclosed to be subject to the test for postconviction discovery. *O'Brien*, 223 Wis. 2d at 321. "[A] defendant has a right to post-conviction discovery when the sought-after evidence is relevant to an issue of consequence." *Id.* But the "sought-after evidence" in this context is not the items sought from the State, but the evidence the defendant hopes to produce with it. *Id.* Here, that is the to-scale diagram and the expert opinions.

O'Brien illustrates why Wilber's focus on the photographs themselves is faulty. In O'Brien, the defendant committed two acts of sexual assault on a man helping him plant some trees. O'Brien, 223 Wis. 2d at 309. The victim escaped and went to the hospital. Id. Blood samples, hair samples, semen samples, and anal and penile swabs and smears were taken from the victim and sent to the crime lab. Id. The defendant testified that the two had consensual oral sex, and that no act of anal intercourse ever occurred. Id. at 311-12. A detective read the lab report at trial, which found no semen from the defendant on any of the samples. Id. The jury convicted the defendant of two counts of third-degree sexual assault. Id.

Postconviction, the defendant filed a motion to remove the samples from the State's file for further scientific testing. *Id.* at 313. He claimed this testing would "help to prove the victim's consent as to the fellatio charge and support [the defendant's] denial of anal intercourse." *Id.* The circuit court denied the motion, concluding that the defendant was not entitled to the samples because the result of the trial would not have been different had the samples been tested. *Id.* at 321. The supreme court affirmed, concluding "that the soughtafter evidence"—the testing—was not consequential because it "probably would [not] have changed the outcome of the trial." *Id*.

Like the defendant in *O'Brien*, Wilber wanted the photographs to produce new evidence: the diagram and the expert reports. *See O'Brien*, 223 Wis. 2d at 321-22. To be entitled to postconviction discovery of the photographs, then, Wilber had to show that the diagram and the reports "probably would have changed the outcome of the trial." *Id.* at 321. And as the circuit court correctly determined, Wilber cannot meet that burden. That the photographs were previously disclosed is irrelevant to the analysis. And since Wilber has made no attempt to refute the circuit court's conclusion, his claim must fail.

III. Wilber's ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel claim fails because his insufficient evidence and ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims are meritless; therefore those claims are procedurally barred and the circuit court properly denied them all without a hearing.

A. Standard of review

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of fact and law." *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 19, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695. A reviewing court "will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.* "However, the ultimate determination of whether counsel's assistance was ineffective is a question of law, which [a court] review[s] de novo." *Id.*

Whether a claim is barred by *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994) and whether a motion alleges a sufficient reason for failing to bring available claims earlier are questions of law that an appellate court reviews de novo. *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 30 (citation omitted); *State v. Tolefree*, 209 Wis. 2d 421, 424, 563 N.W.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1997).

B. Relevant law

A defendant may seek postconviction relief under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 after the time for the direct-appeal process under section 974.02 has ended. *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 32. "But if the defendant [filed] a motion under § 974.02 or a direct appeal or a previous motion under § 974.06, the defendant is barred from making a claim that could have been raised previously unless he shows a sufficient reason for not making the claim earlier." *Id.* ¶ 35; *see generally Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168.

"In some instances. ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel may be a sufficient reason for failing to raise an available claim in an earlier motion or on direct appeal." Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 36. A defendant who asserts ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel must demonstrate that postconviction counsel performed deficiently and the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). It is well-established in Wisconsin that an evidentiary hearing is a prerequisite for consideration of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on appeal. State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). This is so because without counsel's testimony, there is no way to "determine whether trial counsel's actions were the result of incompetence or deliberate trial strategies." Id. Additionally, whether a defendant has been prejudiced by deficient performance "is necessarily factcounsel's dependent." State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, 355 Wis. 2d 180, ¶ 50, 848 N.W.2d 786.

But defendants are not granted a *Machner* hearing simply because they ask for one. *See Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 10. "]A] circuit court has the discretion to deny a defendant's

motion—even a properly pled motion— . . . without holding an evidentiary hearing if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief." *Sulla*, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 30. Consequently, where the circuit court denies a motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without holding a hearing, the issue on appeal is the sufficiency of the motion to entitle the defendant to a hearing, not the ultimate merits of the underlying claim. *State v. Sholar*, 2018 WI 53, ¶ 47.

To prove deficient performance, "the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. "[A] court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Id.* at 689. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

Additionally, "a defendant who alleges in a § 974.06 motion that his postconviction counsel was ineffective for failing to bring certain viable claims must demonstrate that the claims he wishes to bring are clearly stronger than the claims postconviction counsel actually brought." *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 4 (citing *State v. Starks*, 2013 WI 69, ¶ 6, 349 Wis. 2d 274, 833 N.W.2d 146).¹⁰ This "clearly

¹⁰ The case law is clear that the "clearly stronger" standard applies to claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel. *State v. Romero-Georgana*, 2014 WI 83, ¶ 4, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668. Wilber's claim that this standard is "more restrictive than the controlling federal standard for assessing ineffectiveness claims" is false. (Wilber's Br. 31 n.17.) The clearly stronger standard *is* the federal standard, which the Wisconsin Supreme Court adopted from the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. 259 (2000). *State v. Starks*, 2013 WI 69, ¶¶ 59-60, 349 Wis. 2d 274, 833 N.W.2d 146.

stronger" pleading standard is part of the deficient performance prong of the *Strickland* test. *Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶¶ 45, 58.

"The defendant may not presume the second element, prejudice to the defense, simply because certain decisions or actions of counsel were made in error." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 24, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. To prove prejudice, "the defendant must show that [counsel's deficient performance] actually had an adverse effect on the defense." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. "It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *Id.* "The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694.

"The defendant has the burden of proof on both components" of the *Strickland* test. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). If a defendant fails to prove one prong of the *Strickland* test, a court need not consider the other prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

C. Wilber's insufficient evidence claim is procedurally barred and meritless; therefore postconviction counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise it.

It is well-settled that, like every other constitutional claim, a defendant is procedurally barred from raising a sufficiency of the evidence claim in a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion unless the defendant shows a sufficient reason for failing to raise it earlier. *State v. Kaster*, 2006 WI App 72, ¶ 9, 292 Wis. 2d 252, 714 N.W.2d 238. At no point in his postconviction motion did Wilber argue that postconviction

counsel was deficient for failing to raise insufficiency of the evidence. (98:2-18.) Nor did he argue that insufficient evidence was a clearly stronger claim than those postconviction counsel raised. (98:2-18.) His claim is therefore procedurally barred by *Escalona-Naranjo*. *Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d at 185.

Wilber argues his insufficient evidence claim as though he does not need a sufficient reason for failing to raise it on direct appeal, and then, in a footnote, impliedly admits that is not the law in Wisconsin. (Wilber's Br. 21 n.11.) He then claims that because petitioners may sometimes show a sufficient reason to excuse a procedural default in federal habeas corpus cases, insufficient evidence should never be subject to the procedural bar in Wisconsin. (Wilber's Br. 21 n.11.) But this Court cannot overrule the cases stating that insufficient evidence is subject to the procedural bar. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Wilber has wholly failed to suggest a sufficient reason for failing to raise this claim earlier, therefore it is barred.

Furthermore, his claim is meritless. When determining whether evidence at trial was sufficient to support a conviction, an appellate court "consider[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and reverse[s] the conviction only where the evidence 'is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Smith*, 2012 WI 91, ¶ 24, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 410 (quoting *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)). "Therefore, this court will uphold the conviction if there is any reasonable hypothesis that supports it." *Id*.

"In reviewing the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court need not concern itself in any way with evidence which might support other theories of the crime." *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 507-08. But Wilber exclusively discusses what he believes is evidence purportedly consistent with his theory that someone in the living room shot Diaz. (Wilber's Br. 20-23.) He ignores all of the officer testimony and police reports used to impeach the witnesses' testimony equivocating about implicating Wilber. He ignores all the expert testimony that the bullet fragments could easily have landed in unexpected places, and that Diaz's wounds and positioning were consistent with him having been shot from where Wilber was in the kitchen. (Wilber's Br. 20-23.) That is the opposite of how this Court evaluates the sufficiency of the evidence postconviction. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 507-08. This testimony is also sufficient to defeat Wilber's "undisputed physical evidence" argument. (Wilber's Br. 22.) Under no objective view of the facts can Wilber's theory of what the physical evidence shows be labeled "undisputed."

Consequently, postconviction counsel cannot have rendered deficient performance by failing to raise this claim. Counsel is not deficient for failing to raise meritless claims. State v. Wheat, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 14, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441. Nor can Wilber show prejudice: the outcome of Wilber's postconviction proceedings would not have been different had counsel raised a meritless claim because the claim would have failed. And because Wilber cannot show that postconviction counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this claim, he has not shown "any sufficient reason why a court should now entertain that same claim in a sec. 974.06 motion." *Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d at 184 (emphasis omitted).

D. Wilber's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim is meritless; therefore postconviction counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise it and it is procedurally barred.

Wilber claims that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to investigate Gonzalez before trial and failing to obtain experts to reconstruct the crime scene and rebut the State's physical evidence. (Wilber's Br. 26-27.) He is wrong.

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